A MARKETING STRATEGY FOR HAC CONSULTING'S EMISSIONS TRADING CONSULTING SERVICES

By

Hamad Khan Deshmukh Honours Bachelor of Mathematics in Computer Science, University of Waterloo, 2001

PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

In the Faculty of Business Administration Management of Technology MBA Program

© Hamad Khan Deshmukh 2008

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Summer 2008

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

APPROVAL

Name:	Hamad Khan Deshmukh
Degree:	Master of Business Administration
Title of Thesis:	A Marketing Strategy for HAC Consulting's Emissions Trading Consulting Services

Examining Committee:

Dr. Sudheer Gupta Senior Supervisor Associate Professor Faculty of Business Administration, SFU

Dr. Elicia Maine Supervisor Assistant Professor Faculty of Business Administration, SFU

Date Defended/Approved:



FACULTY OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

Partial Copyright License

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser Faculty of Business the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay[s] (title[s] below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Faculty of Business Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

I further grant permission to Simon Fraser University Faculty of Business to keep or make a digital copy for posting to a faculty website. I agree that SFU may, without changing the content, translate if technically possible, my thesis/project or extended essays to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Associate Dean of Graduate Programs, Faculty of Business. It is understood that copying, publication or public performance of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, I retain full copyright in my thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties as I may desire.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essays:

A MARKETING STRATEGY FOR HAC CONSULTING'S EMISSIONS TRADING CONSULTING SERVICES

Author's name and signature:

Hamad Khan Deshmukh

Date signed:

ABSTRACT

HAC Consulting Pty Ltd. (HAC) is currently examining strategic options to grow its consulting services business, specifically in the emissions trading consulting services industry, in anticipation of the implementation of an Emission Trading Scheme in Australia by 2010. Climate change is the driving force for Emission Trading Schemes and the Australian ETS is expected to fuel demand for the next few years. The industry is characterized by high supplier power, threat of entry, Government intervention, low threat of substitutes, moderate customer power and increasing rivalry. HAC faces many competitors in this industry, but the rapid growth of demand and current industry positioning allows it to differentiate its services from its competitors. A SWOT Analysis reveals the internal capabilities of HAC and the strategic alternatives available. It is recommended that HAC establish a marketing plan to promote itself through increasing awareness for the Australian ETS.

Keywords: ETS, Climate Change, Australian ETS, Emissions Trading, Consulting, Marketing Strategy, Demand Estimation, Competitive Analysis

DEDICATION

To my parents, Jawed and Yasmin and my sister, Zohra. For all the sacrifices you have made for me to be able to live here in Canada. Your encouragement, love and unconditional support has been the source of my inspiration and my motivation to succeed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank Mr. Jamie Ally, Mr. Glenn Head and Mr. Colin Cockroft of HAC Consulting Australia Pty Ltd for giving me the opportunity to work on this project. In particular, I would like to acknowledge the efforts of Jamie Ally in providing guidance and understanding during the course of this project. His patience and feedback was invaluable in the completion of the document.

Many thanks to the faculty and administration at the Simon Fraser University MOT MBA program for a challenging and rewarding educational experience over the past couple of years. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Sudheer Gupta and Dr. Elicia Maine, whose guidance and feedback really helped solidify the content of this project document and eliminate the loose ends. I would like to thank my classmates as well, for the tips, advice and encouragement during this long process, specifically Sharen Dhami, James Lota and Michelle Seltenrich.

I would be remiss if I did not mention the support provided to me by my colleagues in the Kodak Proofing Software Team. Their encouragement during the process and their understanding and support during those difficult times when work and school deadlines conflicted made this whole process a lot less stressful.

vi

Finally, my friends and family have as much a hand in this document as anyone else. My friends, Sarah, Anthony, Sam, Al, Joslyn and Vlad for tolerating my disappearing act over the last couple of years and for supporting me as I went through this anyway. And of course, my parents, Jawed and Yasmin and my sister Zohra, for their love and encouragement as I endeavoured to complete this degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Approval	ii
Abstract	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
Glossary	xiii
1: Introduction	1
 1.1 HAC Consulting Pty Ltd 1.2 Current Product Offering in the Emission Trading Consulting 	1
1.3 Purpose of Analysis 1.4 Document Overview	1 2 2
2: Background	5
 2.1 Climate Change 2.2 Emission Trading Scheme (ETS) 2.3 The Kyoto Protocol 2.4 Australia's ETS 	5 8 9 10
3: Preparing for Australia's ETS	16
4: External Analysis	19
 4.1 Emissions Trading Consulting Services Industry	19 22 25 27 29 30 31 31
4.2.5 Bargaining Power of Customers4.2.6 Role of Government	32 33
4.2.7 Summary of Six Forces Analysis	34

A 4		. 34
4.	3.1 Retain Expertise and Staff	. 34
4.3	3.2 Setting Standards	. 35
4.3	3.3 Control Software Suppliers	. 35
4.3	3.4 Service Differentiation	. 36
4.3	3.5 Understanding of Government Policies	. 36
4.4	Competitor Analysis	. 37
4.4	4.1 Competitor Categories	. 37
4.4	4.2 Summary of Competitors Capabilities and Services	. 38
4.4	4.3 Industry Position Map	. 40
4.4	4.4 Opportunities Identified	. 43
5: Inte	rnal Analysis	. 44
51	Resources	44
5	1 1 Financial Structure	44
5	1.2 Labour Resources	44
5	1.3 Intangible Resources	45
52	Management Capabilities	46
53	Marketing and Sales Canabilities	46
54	Organizational Structure	46
5.5	SWOT Analysis	47
5 !	5.1 Threats	48
5.	5.2 Opportunities	48
с. г	5.3 Strengths	10
5 !		
5.9 5.9	5.4 Weaknesses	. 50
5.: 5.: 6: Stra	5.4 Weaknesses	. 4 9 . 50 . 51
5.5 5.5 6: Stra	5.4 Weaknesses Ategic Option Analysis	. 50 . 51
5.8 5.8 6: Stra 6.1	5.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry	. 50 . 51 . 53
5.9 5.9 6: Stra 6.1	5.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for	. 50 . 51 . 53
5.8 5.8 6: Stra 6.1 6.2	 5.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services 	. 50 . 51 . 53
5.3 5.8 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in Service Strategy: Take Advantage Service S	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54
5.3 5.8 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition 	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54
5.3 5.4 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4	 5.4 Weaknesses	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 54
5.3 5.8 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4	 5.4 Weaknesses	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 54
5.3 5.3 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5	 5.4 Weaknesses	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 54 . 55
5.3 5.4 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry. Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition. Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line Adaptive Strategy: Market Reputation and Expertise in the Industry. 	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 54 . 55 . 56
5.3 5.3 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 54 . 55 . 56
5.3 5.3 6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line Adaptive Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller 	. 53 . 54 . 55 . 56
5.3 5.4 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry. Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition. Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line Adaptive Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller Companies. 	. 53 . 53 . 54 . 55 . 55 . 56
5.3 5.3 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7	 5.4 Weaknesses 6.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry. Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition. Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line Adaptive Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller Companies. Survival Strategy: Establish a Proactive Employee/Consultant Retention System 	. 53 . 54 . 55 . 56 . 56
6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7	 5.4 Weaknesses	. 53 . 53 . 54 . 55 . 56 . 56 . 57
6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 7: Rec	 5.4 Weaknesses	. 53 . 53 . 54 . 55 . 56 . 56 . 56 . 57 . 58
6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 7: Rec 7.1	 5.4 Weaknesses 6.4 Weaknesses ategic Option Analysis Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line Adaptive Strategy: Market Reputation and Expertise in the Industry Survival Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller Companies Survival Strategy: Establish a Proactive Employee/Consultant Retention System 	. 50 . 51 . 53 . 54 . 55 . 56 . 56 . 56 . 57 . 58
6: Stra 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 7: Rec 7.1 7.2	 5.4 Weaknesses 5.4 Weaknesses Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry. Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition. Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line. Adaptive Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller Companies. Survival Strategy: Establish a Proactive Employee/Consultant Retention System Recommendation: A Mixed Defensive/Adaptive Strategy. Suggested Implementation 	. 53 . 53 . 54 . 54 . 55 . 56 . 56 . 57 . 58 . 58

8: Conclusion	
9: Appendices	64
9.1 Appendix 1: Consulting Services provided by HAC	64
9.2 Appendix 2: Counts of Australian Businesses, 2006-2007	66
9.2.1 Breakdown by Industry	66
9.2.2 Breakdown by Income	66
9.2.3 Breakdown by Business Size	67
10: Bibliography	68

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Observed changes in (a) global average surface temperature, (b) global average sea level from tide gauge (blue) and satellite (red) data and (c) Northern Hemisphere snow cover for March- April	7
Figure 2	NGER Act 2007 Reporting Thresholds Timeline	. 14
Figure 3	Overview of Processes Required for ETS Compliance	. 17
Figure 4	Industry Life Cycle Stages	21
Figure 5	Growth Trend for ETS Consulting	. 26
Figure 6	Porter's Five Forces Plus Government Influence Analysis of the Australian ETS Consulting Services Industry	. 28
Figure 7	Position Map - Services Offered and Industry Sector Focus	. 42

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Australia ETS Timetable	12
Table 2	Potential Sectors Affected by ETS and Their Sizes	25
Table 3	HAC Competitor Comparisons	. 39
Table 4	SWOT Analysis	47
Table 5	Strategies identified by SWOT Analysis	52

GLOSSARY

UN	United Nations
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
ETS	Emission Trading Scheme
EU	European Union
EU ETS	European Union Emissions Trading System
JI	Joint Implementation
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
NGER	National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting
HAC	HAC Consulting Pty Ltd
ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
SEO	Search Engine Optimization
SCO2CC	Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting

1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 HAC Consulting Pty Ltd

HAC Consulting Pty Ltd (HAC) is a privately owned consulting company with offices in Perth and Melbourne. The company was co-founded in early 2007 by "key leaders of the team that managed Perth's Hydrogen Fuel Cell Bus Trial" (HAC Australia Pty Ltd, 2008). HAC provides consulting services to both corporate and government clients in a wide range of areas primarily related to sustainability and climate change (Appendix 1). The company has over 30 consultants on staff with expertise in a wide range of areas, and provide their clients with project teams or high-level consultant to provide strategic advice. The company maintains active membership in various sustainability and environment associations. HAC is very closely involved in the Australian Emission Trading Scheme (ETS), providing preparatory consulting and emissions auditing services and contributing to the Garnaut Climate Change Review through their submission "The need to develop innovative policy mechanisms in parallel with the Emissions Trading Scheme"(HAC Australia, 2008).

1.2 Current Product Offering in the Emission Trading Consulting Service Industry

HAC Consulting currently provides the complete set of services that fulfil the needs of Australian businesses to reach compliance with the ETS. The

services are provided individually or as a whole set depending on client needs. Their current value proposition is:

"A holistic approach to emissions trading. A full service solution, including auditing and creation of data workflows that assists in reporting to the NGER and is auditable and traceable. Once workflows are established, customers are presented with the best options of reducing greenhouse energy use and then they are presented the best ROI (for marginal abatement cost). Consulting services include giving advice on how to pass costs on to the customer and managing supply chain effects."

-Jamie Ally, co-founder of HAC Consulting

1.3 Purpose of Analysis

HAC Consulting Pty Ltd. (HAC) is currently examining strategic options to grow its consulting services business over the next 3 years. The upcoming Australian ETS and the urgent need for companies to comply to the ETS has created a unique opportunity for growth in consulting services for emissions and carbon trading analysis and management. The purpose of this project is to analyze the market for emissions trading consulting services in Australia and propose specific strategic recommendations for HAC Consulting Inc. to refine the services it provides in this segment, and offer better value to its customers.

1.4 Document Overview

Climate change has become the hot button topic of our generation, with the effects of the resource hungry Industrial and Information Revolutions leaving

a visible effect on Earth's environment. This analysis provides evidence of these effects from United Nations reports as it sets the context for Emission Trading Schemes (ETS) in general and the Kyoto Protocol and the Australian Emission Trading Scheme in particular. It provides the economic explanation for how ETSs reduce pollution, and proceeds to define the processes that are involved in the Australian ETS.

HAC Consulting Pty Ltd. (HAC) is a consulting company for sustainability and climate change policy projects. A significant portion of their business is through the provision of niche services, such as climate change consulting for governments, developing sustainability strategies for corporations, and energy and emissions auditing. The principals of HAC have an overall business strategy to expand their consulting services into emissions and carbon trading analysis (identified in this analysis as Emissions Trading Consulting Services).

This project applies a standard strategic analysis framework to the emissions trading consulting industry in Australia. As the Australian ETS is still pending specification, this analysis estimates the market segments in this industry using the processes required by the ETS and the industrial sectors that are expected to be affected by the ETS. Demand size in the industry is approximated using figures from draft ETS reports. In order to define the key success factors for the emissions trading consulting industry, Porter's Five Forces Framework is applied and extended to include Government influence, as the Government of Australia is a significant factor in this industry.

The process of competitor analysis reveals many competitors that can be further categorized into three groups. Positioning the competitors along segmentation lines identifies three possible opportunities. These are emissions tracking services, full-service emissions trading consulting services tailored to a specific industry and full-service consulting services provided to all industries in general.

An internal analysis of HAC Consulting Pty Ltd is performed and its capabilities are determined using the SWOT Analysis Framework. The SWOT Framework is then applied to the process of generating alternate strategies. Using the SWOT analysis as a guide, the project recommends the use of a mixed defensive and adaptive strategy that provides the best path for long-term growth. The primary recommendation is to use the opportunity created by the lack of awareness of the Australian ETS to establish a marketing plan and infrastructure to develop HAC's brand in the industry. This will be accomplished by communicating to customers to be proactive in preparing for ETS compliance. The proposed implementation of this strategy is through an Internet marketing campaign to provide a cost efficient channel and set of tools to provide feedback and results monitoring. The analysis concludes that the current environment is favourable for HAC to pursue a long-term growth strategy in providing emissions trading consulting services to the Australian market.

2: BACKGROUND

2.1 Climate Change

The Industrial Revolutions of the 18th and 19th centuries spawned rapid economic growth around the globe, made way for the emergence of capitalism and set the stage for the modernization of society through the 20th century. These Revolutions hinged on the precepts that natural resources such as fossil fuels, water, forests and land are available in limitless supply, and that the earth is capable of absorbing the effects of the by-products of massive industrialization without any noticeable changes. As society has continued to mature through the Information and Technological Ages, it has come to the realization that earth's resources are in fact, not limitless, and that there is a possibility that human industrial and agricultural activity will result in direct consequences to the earth's environment. Due to this realization, the United Nations (UN) established the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in 1988 (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) as a source of information on climate change to policy makers.

In 2007, the IPCC released the first of four reports on Climate Change, which stated that:

"Warming of the climate system is unequivocal, as is now evident from observations of increases in global average air and ocean temperatures,

widespread melting of snow and ice, and rising global average sea level" (Solomon, et al., 2007)

The report also stated that there is a 90% chance that:

"The global average net effect of human activities since 1750 has been one of warming" (Solomon, et al., 2007)

The report concluded that the increase in concentrations of greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxide and hydrocarbons in the atmosphere because of human activities is a significant cause of the warming effect. Figure 1 shows the summary from the IPCC report on the warming trend in average surface temperature and the corresponding increase in average sea level and decrease in snow coverage.



Note: All changes are relative to corresponding averages for the period 1961-1990. Smoothed curves represent decadal averaged values while circles show yearly values. The shaded areas are the uncertainty intervals estimated from a comprehensive analysis of known uncertainties (a and b) and from the time series (c). Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K., et al. (2007). *IPCC, 2007: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

The 2007 report confirmed existing fears and expectations that human activity was having a direct effect on the environment and that drastic measures were required to alter current practices in order to minimize this impact. These measures are part of the New Industrial Revolution (Canada NewsWire, 2004), which advocates the development of technologies, systems and industries to further economic competitiveness with strict environmental considerations. An example of a system that is part of the New Industrial Revolution is the Emission Trading System (ETS).

2.2 Emission Trading Scheme (ETS)

An Emission Trading Scheme (ETS) is a mechanism that employs the concepts of economics to achieve a lowering of emissions. Economists Alfred Marshall and Henry George first came up with the idea of emissions trading 100 years ago with the theory that "assigning property rights to the environment was a good way to protect it" (Financial Times, 2007). They postulated, "Setting limits and then enabling individuals to trade their allowances was a better way to protect the environment at least cost" than assigning participants with fixed limits (Financial Times, 2007). This concept is the basis of the modern "cap and trade" ETS, in which a regulating body imposes a "cap" (or limit) on the total amount of pollution (in the form of credits) that participants are allowed to emit.

In an ETS, the regulating body distributes emission credits amongst the ETS participants. Participants who want to emit more can then purchase extra credits from other less polluting participants who have spare credits to sell. The regulating body monitors the "trade" activity with regard to the exchange of

credits, and then decreases the cap with the passage of time. The theory behind why an ETS will result in a decrease in pollution is that as the cap continues to decrease, the price of spare credits will increase due to scarcity and increasing demand, resulting in the investment in cutting emissions being a more costefficient measure for participants. The Kyoto Protocol and the upcoming Australian ETS are examples of cap and trade ETSs.

2.3 The Kyoto Protocol

The Kyoto Protocol is an international agreement between 37 industrialized countries and the European community that commits them to reducing GHG emissions "by an average of 5% against 1990 levels over the fiveyear period 2008-2012" (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2008). A central mechanism in the Kyoto Protocol is Emissions Trading, also referred to as "the carbon market", which is centred in the London financial marketplace. Reporting will complement this global ETS; registry and compliance systems to assist the UN Climate Change Secretariat regulate transactions and monitor country-by-country emission inventories. At the end of 2012, the Protocol will be renegotiated and ratified in order to meet the emission reductions requirements laid out in the 2007 IPCC Climate Change Report. (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2008).

Kyoto member nations are now in the process of implementing their own ETSs and then linking them back to the Kyoto ETS according to the Joint Implementation (JI) and Clean Development Mechanisms (CDM) in the Protocol as part of their commitments to the Treaty. The Kyoto Protocol defines Annex I

countries as industrialised nations, and Annex II countries as a subset of the industrialised nations which have to pay for the developing countries. The JI mechanism is in place so that Annex II countries (rich countries like Canada, Britain, Australia) can generate credits by paying for abatement in poorer countries that are still Annex I (like Romania, Russia, etc), whereas the CDM is used when Annex II countries generate credits by paying for abatement in developing countries like India or China. So, under the Kyoto ETS, countries can buy permits, trade permits within the ETS, or they can generate permits by paying for abatement through JI or CDM.

The European Union (EU) established the first multi-national GHG ETS and linked it backed to the Kyoto Protocol mechanisms (European Union, 2004). The EU ETS covers the European industrial and energy sectors, which are responsible for half of the EU's CO2 emissions and 40% of its total GHG emissions. New Zealand is currently in the process of designing an ETS, which will incorporate forest carbon in addition to industrial and energy emissions in order to account for deforestation activities. Australia is the next major Kyoto member scheduled to implement a Kyoto-linked ETS in 2010.

2.4 Australia's ETS

"The introduction of emissions trading will constitute the most significant economic and structural reform undertaken in Australia since the trade liberalisation of the 1980s."

- Minister for Climate Change and Water, Senator the Hon Penny Wong

The Australian Government is implementing an ETS scheduled to become effective no later than 2010. Table 1 shows the expected timeline for the implementation of the Australian ETS. The cap and trade system, expected to be internationally consistent with the Kyoto Protocol, must reduce emissions by 60 per cent by 2050, and be fair and economically responsible for the Australian economy (Australian Government, Department of Climate Change, 2008). The ETS will be implemented using a phased approach, with the initial design being completed in July 2008. The ETS initial design Green Paper is an expected result of the Garnaut Climate Change Review, an independent study by Professor Ross Garnaut, commissioned by The Australian Government to examine "the impacts of climate change on the Australian economy and recommend medium to longterm policies and policy frameworks to improve the prospects for sustainable prosperity." (Garnaut Climate Change Review, 2008)

Table 1 Australia ETS Timetable

Australia ETS Timetable	
July 2008	Public release of the Green Paper on scheme design
July-Sept 2008	Phase 2 consultation on the Green Paper
Dec 2008	Public release of exposure draft of legislative package
Dec 2008-Feb 2009	Phase 3 consultation on exposure draft legislation package
End 2008	Firm indication by Government of planned medium- term trajectory for the scheme
Mar 2009	Bill introduced into Parliament
Mid-2009	Government aims to achieve passage of bill by Parliament at this time
During 2009	Phase 4 consultation on emissions trading regulations
Q3 2009	Act enters into force; scheme regulator established
2010	Emissions trading scheme will commence

Note: Adapted From Australian Government, Department of Climate Change. (2008, April 03). *Emissions Trading Scheme - Timetable*. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from Australian Government - Department of Climate Change: http://www.greenhouse.gov.au/emissionstrading/timetable.html (Australian Government, Department of Climate Change, 2008)

As a first step in recording current emissions and energy consumption, the

Australian Government passed The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting

(NGER) Act of 2007, which establishes a mandatory corporate reporting system

for GHG emissions, energy consumption and production starting from July 1,

2008. The reporting system in the act is a threshold-based system, with the following rules:

"From 1 July 2008, corporations will be required to register and report for the 2008-2009 financial year if:

- They control a facility that emits 25 kilo tonnes or more of greenhouse gases (CO2 equivalent), or produce or consume 100 terajoules or more of energy; or
- Their corporate group emits 125 kilo tonnes or more greenhouse gases (CO2 equivalent), or produces or consume 500 terajoules or more of energy.

Lower thresholds for corporate groups will be phased in by 2010-11. The final thresholds will be 50 kilo tonnes of greenhouse gases (CO2 equivalent) or 200 terajoules of energy." Figure 2 shows the timetable for the NGER's adjusting threshold requirements. (Australian Government, Department of Climate Change, 2007). With the strict requirements of NGER in place, companies and businesses in Australia have to start auditing their current emissions and energy expenditures.





Note: From Australian Government, Department of Climate Change. (2007, September). Overview of NGER Act 2007. Australia.

The Australian ETS is expected to cover the six GHG's as defined in the

Kyoto protocol and the following sectors of the Australian economy from scheme

outset: stationary energy, industrial processes, emissions from fuels, transport

and waste. The Agriculture and forestry industries will be included as soon as

practical. Households and businesses not included in the first reporting phase of

the NGER Act are not expected to be covered by the scheme (Garnaut Climate Change Review, 2008).

3: PREPARING FOR AUSTRALIA'S ETS

With the prospect of Australia's ETS going public in 2010, a majority of Australian businesses that fit the reporting requirements threshold under the NGER Act of 2007 have to start preparing to be able to operate under the ETS. Figure 3 breaks down the processes that these businesses must undertake to reach compliance with the ETS. It also shows how these processes interact with the ETS environment, including the government registry and the trading of carbon credits on the Australian Carbon Exchange.

Figure 3 Overview of Processes Required for ETS Compliance



The first step for a business to undertake is auditing its existing emissions and energy consumptions. The auditing process will determine the business' carbon footprint, allow it to report, and register under the NGER guidelines. Best practices recommend companies to follow internationally recognized standards when auditing their emissions and energy consumption in order to be able to facilitate compliance with future international and domestic reporting requirements.

The audit provides the baseline for the business' operations and enables it to meet the initial NGER requirements. However, in order for continued reporting requirements and compliance under the ETS, the business will have to track its emissions and energy consumption. The best way to do continuous tracking is to implement a tracking system. The tracking system can be either paper-based or an information systems solution. An important part of introducing an emissions tracking system is its integration into a business' existing operations.

Once the ETS begins in 2010, the business will receive an initial allotment of carbon credits (either through allocation or through auction, depending on the mechanism chosen by the Garnaut Review). The company will need to figure out the best way to allocate these credits to its different operations. Once this information is known, the company will be aware of any carbon deficits or surpluses and will have to trade the carbon credits on the Australian Carbon Exchange. Throughout the process, the company will have to evaluate whether buying credits is more cost effective than investing in cutting the emissions themselves.

4: EXTERNAL ANALYSIS

The following section provides a detailed external analysis of the emissions trading consulting services industry in Australia. This analysis defines the segmentation of the market for this industry by services required by customers and by industrial sector and provides an estimate of industry size and growth trends. Next, the application of the Six Forces Analysis Framework for the emissions trading consulting services industry identifies the key success factors for the industry. Finally, a detailed competitor analysis identifies the types of competitors, a full list of competitors in Australia and how they have strategically positioned themselves to service the needs of the industry.

4.1 Emissions Trading Consulting Services Industry

4.1.1 Background

The emissions trading consulting services industry is a part of the climate change industry. The climate change industry provides services and products targeted at assisting traditional industries and businesses cope with the rigours of dealing with regulations and requirements enacted to reduce emissions and energy consumption caused by global climate change. The climate change industry is growing globally due to treaties like the Kyoto Protocol and is experiencing accelerated growth in Australia due to the impending implementation of the Australian ETS.

A major factor in the accelerated growth of the industry is the speed at which the Australian ETS is being implemented. With the specifications for the design due in July 2008, the ETS is expected to become effective in 2010. A recent survey has identified that only 36 percent of business executives were aware of the scheme beginning in 2010 and a very large eighty percent of executives has little knowledge or were only "somewhat aware" of it (ABC News Online, 2008). This leads to the assumption that there will be a rush of demand for emissions trading consulting services in a very short time as businesses scramble to reach compliance.

Figure 4 shows the industry lifecycle and its four stages. The climate change industry in general is in the growth stage of the industry life cycle because climate change itself has been on the official policy radar for only the past decade or so (Kyoto was ratified in 1997), and thus the emissions trading consulting services industry, in Australia in particular, can also be characterized to be in this stage. This stage is identified by the entry of competitors, an increase in the number of customers and few firms exiting the market.

Figure 4 Industry Life Cycle Stages



Note: Adapted from Moore, G. A. (2002). *Crossing the Chasm: Marketing and Selling Disruptive Products to Mainstream Customers*. New York: Harper Collins

Chapter 3 highlighted the various processes that an Australian business will require to participate in the Australian Carbon Market and be compliant in the ETS. These processes outline the various products and services required serve as separate markets for companies to provide products and services. Thus, the services and products that make up the emissions trading consulting services industry are:

- 1. Emissions and energy consumption auditing services
- 2. Information systems to track emissions from operations
- Consulting services to efficiently allocate credits to existing operations

- 4. Consulting services to model and project carbon credit deficits and surpluses based on operational usage
- Consulting services to provide strategic advice into efficient carbon credit trading decisions
- Consulting services/products to reduce a company's carbon footprint in its future operations

4.1.2 Market Segments

There are two ways to segment the emissions trading consulting services market. The first method is segmentation of the market by the different types of services required by customers to reach ETS compliance. The second is segmentation along industrial sectors.

4.1.2.1 Segmentation by Services

Segmenting the market by services means considering the different services required in the process of companies becoming compliant with the Australian ETS. Chapter 3 provided a broad introduction to the services required by Australian companies to become ETS compliant. Using this as a reference, the list of services are grouped into four broad categories:

Emissions and Energy Consumption Auditing Services

Emissions and energy consumption auditing services are intended to provide a standardized, structured approach to recording and reporting existing emission levels from operations. This is a segment with initial growth potential, as a majority of companies will be requiring these services in order to reach compliance with the ETS come 2010. But this is a segment which will eventually experience small growth rates after the initial boom, since once auditing services have been used to establish current levels, the process does not need to be repeated as tracking services will maintain the information. According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), the average annual rate of growth of the number of Australian businesses over the last four years is 1.6% (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2007). Considering a majority (90%) of business entries are small businesses (non-employing or employing less than 4 employees), that means the expected annual rate of growth for this segment once the ETS is in full operation can be expected to be less than 0.5%.

Emissions Tracking Services

Emissions tracking services will provide companies with a continuous monitoring of emissions and energy consumption. These services are setup to complement the results of the initial audit. The services in this segment can vary from paper-based systems to complex information management systems setup, along with guidance and education services to clients on how to record emissions. This segment can provide continuous income for companies as the tracking process will be performed throughout the year and will need to be integrated into existing operations, and will be followed by mandatory third-party verification once the ETS is underway.

Carbon Supply-Chain Consulting

The carbon supply-chain consulting segment deals with services that reduce the carbon footprint of a company's supply-chain activities. It involves
monitoring and recording emissions usage from supply-chain operations and providing advice on how to make the operations more carbon friendly to reduce emissions in order to reduce credit usage. These services also include long term planning to reduce carbon output from supply-chain operations.

Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services

Strategic carbon credit consulting services segment involves the planning and efficient use of a company's carbon credits. Consulting firms in this segment provide their clients with advice on the most efficient way to perform their carbon trading activities. The services also include the projection and modelling of carbon credit usage to plan investments and activity to achieve the best return on investment for the client's carbon credits.

4.1.2.2 Segmentation by Industrial Sector

Aside from the service segment view of the market, the emission trading consulting market is segmented along industrial sectors. Appendix 2 shows the distribution of Australian businesses by industrial sector. As the Australian ETS will be selectively applied across specific industrial sectors, companies in this market can compete along industrial sectors to take advantage of specialized domain knowledge. For example, a company with expertise in the mining sector and environmental consulting experience would be more adept at providing emissions trading consulting services to the mining industry since they will have an advantage with their wealth of domain specific experience.

4.1.3 Industry Size and Growth Trends

This section estimates the size of the emissions trading consulting services industry and presents probable growth scenarios. Concerning the Australian market, Table 2 is an approximate list of the sectors affected by the ETS according to the preliminary specifications from the Garnaut Climate Change Review (Garnaut Climate Change Review, 2008). Over 850,00 businesses could be affected by the ETS, with the biggest sectors being construction, retail, manufacturing and transport (Table 2).

Table 2 Potential Sectors Affected by ETS and Their Sizes

Industrial Sector	Number of Businesses
Mining	7,205
Manufacturing	106,565
Electricity, Gas and Water Supply	1,968
Construction	322,404
Wholesale Trade	85,398
Retail Trade	219,308
Transport and Storage	117,323
Total	860,171

Note: From Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2007). *Counts of Australian Businesses, Including Entries and Exits.* Cranberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

The NGER Act of 2007 will "improve data coverage to over 70% of

greenhouse gas emissions in the covered sectors" (Australian Government,

Department of Climate Change, 2007). Using this as an estimation number, the

initial industry size for emissions trading consulting services for the Australian

ETS is over 600,000 businesses. The initial number does not include the

Forestry and Agriculture industries, which would add another 200,000 businesses to the initial industry size once they are covered by the ETS in the future.



Figure 5 Growth Trend for ETS Consulting

The growth potential of the industry can only be estimated based on assumptions. Figure 5 shows the growth trends based of four different scenarios. The scenarios are based on the assumption that each year a certain percentage of Australian businesses that are created will need to be covered by the ETS, and that that percentage varies based on the success of the ETS. If the ETS is more successful, then the assumption is that a greater percentage of new businesses will be covered by the ETS. For example, in Figure 5, the highest growth scenario assumes that 10 percent of new Australian businesses are covered by the ETS (based off the estimate that 10 percent of new Australian businesses are in the medium to large size range). Using the average growth of 1.6 percent annually for Australian businesses, the highest growth scenario estimates that the size of the industry will be over a million firms.

4.2 Industry Analysis

An industry analysis provides an assessment of firm and industry performance and identifies key factors that affect profitability in the competitive environment. Michael Porter's Five Forces Framework (Porter, 1979) provides a standard methodology to perform an industry analysis. An extension of Porter's Five Forces is the Six Forces Framework, which takes into account the effect of government on the industry being analyzed.



Figure 6 Porter's Five Forces Plus Government Influence Analysis of the Australian ETS Consulting Services Industry

Note: From Porter, M. (1979). How Competitive Forces Shape Strategy. Harvard Business Review

Figure 6 shows the six forces analysis for the emissions trading consulting industry. The diagram shows the sum of the effect of individual variables in the case of each force. A negative (-) sign indicates a variable that reduces the impact of the force on the industry, whereas a positive (+) sign indicates a variable that increases the impact of the force on the industry. A variable that has both a positive and negative sign (+/-) indicates that the variable can affect the force in either way.

4.2.1 Bargaining Power of Suppliers

The bargaining power of suppliers In the emissions trading consulting services industry is very high and has a pronounced negative effect on the attractiveness of this industry. There are two major suppliers to the emissions trading consulting services industry. The most important major supplier is labour in the form of consultants and experts. Many variables currently increase the bargaining power of labour in the industry. With the rapid growth of the industry in Australia with the upcoming ETS, there is a shortage of skilled consultants with expertise in the climate change domain. The shortage is so severe, that the industry is forced to hire labour from overseas in order to fill the void (Warren, 2007). Some companies are going so far as to hire local professionals whose main domain of expertise is not one of environmental engineering, environmental management or climate change (Warren, 2007). The specialization of the skills themselves also increases the bargaining power of labour suppliers to the industry.

The second major supplier is the software industry. This is specifically true for service providers that operate in the emissions tracking systems segment. The software, similar to the labour, is very specialized, as it must be geared towards solving the emissions tracking problem. The software is very specific, as it requires interaction across many functional roles within each organisation, such as finance, legal, operations, environmental and other corporate functions. If the software is outsourced, it must be done from very specific suppliers, and if it is created in-house, the problem domain is so specific

that a team of software developers would require the guidance of an industry expert to create the product. Thus, the suppliers to the emissions trading consulting firms have a very high influence on the profitability of a firm in the industry.

4.2.2 Rivalry among Existing Competitors

The rivalry among existing customers in the emissions trading consulting industry is moderate. There are both enhancing and dampening variables that affect this force. The fact that the industry is in the growth stage of the lifecycle means that there are many customers in the Australian market, which should have an overall dampening effect on the rivalry between competitors, as there will be market share up for grabs. Another dampening effect on the rivalry in the industry caused by the industry being in the growth stage is that the consulting services themselves are not yet in a mature state. There is a lot of room for competitors to differentiate their services based on customizing their offerings to a particular segment.

However, certain conditions are increasing the rivalry in the industry. The first is the fact that there already are quite a few competitors offering services to the customers and contracts are obtained through a tender or Request for Proposal (RFP) process. Secondly, some of the competitors in the emissions trading consulting services industry are larger consulting firms that have excess capacity in terms of consulting staff and thus they are able to bid on and manage more contracts simultaneously.

4.2.3 Threat of Substitutes

The power of substitutes in the emissions trading consulting industry is low compared to the other forces in the six forces framework, making the industry more attractive for competing firms. The reason for this is that the only real substitute for a company offering a contract to a consulting firm is for them to hire a climate change expert on staff and then perform all the services in-house (including the auditing, tracking and credit trading management). This may be an option for some of the larger customer firms in the market, but it is a difficult option to pursue due to the extreme shortage of capable talent available (high power of suppliers) and that shortage promotes the need for firms to outsource the services to a consulting firm that specializes in this area. The other reason why there are not many viable substitutes to emissions trading consulting services in Australia is the requirements set in place by the government to bring in the ETS and the fact that all companies that are covered by the ETS need to be compliant or risk being penalized by the government.

4.2.4 Threat of Entry

The threat of entry into the emissions trading consulting services industry is rated high, which makes the industry less attractive for a firm that is competing in it. The primary reason for this is the low barrier to entry. There are minimal fixed costs to starting a consulting service, and individual experts can start up their own firms and provide services to the smaller customer firms in the market place. This fact also raises another serious issue. There is no standardization of

skills and qualifications to be a consultant in this industry, which opens the possibility of more small firms entering the marketplace.

Another factor that contributes to the threat of entry being high is the presence of large global conglomerate consulting firms. They are able to enter the market easily using their economies of scale when it comes to consulting talent, and with the above-mentioned lack of qualifications, they are able to field teams to challenge for contracts with minimum investment in entry costs. The high demand for these services caused by the rapid implementation of the ETS by the Government of Australia further exacerbates the threat of new entrants in this industry.

4.2.5 Bargaining Power of Customers

Customers in the emissions trading consulting services industry currently have moderate bargaining power, which increases industry attractiveness for competing firms. The demand for the services created by the implementation of the Australian ETS by Government has the biggest dampening effect on the bargaining power of customers because if they are covered under the ETS, then they have to buy these services and become compliant or risk being penalized by the Government. Although a bidding process for contracts increases the bargaining power of the customer, the fact that there are many customers in the market for these services (almost 600,000 according to section 5.1.3) has the opposite dampening effect on the bargaining power of the customer. Although duration of contracts and switching costs can go both ways in affecting the buying power of the customer, these variables fluctuate on a contract-to-contract

basis. For example, some companies offer single instance consulting advice on small issues, which would fall under shorter duration contacts, whereas a team project consulting approach would involve a longer-term contract, which would reduce the ability of the customer to exit the contract. The same applies to switching cost from process to process. That is entirely dependent on the implementation provided by a consulting company. Some companies provide solutions that enable the customer to get future services from a different provider (this would be indicative of a one shot consulting advice) compared to implementations that lock the customer in to every aspect of emissions trading.

4.2.6 Role of Government

The Government of Australia has a very big role in the industry, as it is the primary driver for the demand of emissions trading consulting services. This pronounced Government effect makes the industry less attractive for a competitive firm, as it places a requirement on the firm to be aware of Government Policy and to be able to anticipate any changes to policy with the passage of time. As the ETS matures, the Government will increase its coverage over a larger segment of the economy, which will directly affect the bargaining power of suppliers and customers.

With the ETS being legislated, the Government of Australia has the power to fine businesses for non-compliance, and this punitive ability will put increasing pressure on businesses and thus decrease the bargaining power of customers, as they will scramble to meet the requirements placed on them. This will also directly affect the threat of substitutes as well, since companies will be compelled

to outsource emissions trading consulting services. Since these services are very specifically serving Australian businesses' need to comply, the threat of substitutes that can fulfil these needs becomes reduced even further.

4.2.7 Summary of Six Forces Analysis

The emissions trading consulting services industry is characterized by high bargaining power of suppliers, a high threat of entry, low threat of substitutes and moderate bargaining power for customers and an increasing threat of rivalry from competitors. The role of Government on the forces in the industry is extremely pronounced. The overall attractiveness of the industry is moderate to high, depending on the capabilities of the firm. A firm with specialized capabilities such as experience in sustainability projects, emissions trading and government policy will find the industry more attractive than the average firm.

4.3 Industry Key Success Factors

The key success factors for a firm competing in the emissions trading consulting services industry to be profitable are as follows:

4.3.1 Retain Expertise and Staff

To combat the severe shortage of labour in the industry, it is important that a company reduce turnover and retain its top talent in staff. With many competing firms, employees are being lured to leave existing companies with attractive packages. The other benefit to retaining top talent is to differentiate from those firms that are dealing with the shortage by hiring staff whose expertise

is in non-related fields. This can best be accomplished by including a nopoaching clause in its contracts and improving retention by enhancing benefits and compensation packages.

4.3.2 Setting Standards

The Six Forces analysis exposed the high threat of entry caused by high demand and a lack of standardization for qualifications for staff in the industry. A company can differentiate itself by marketing its staff and its qualifications to the customers. This minimizes the threat of entry as the barriers of entry increase because the incumbent firm is creating an intangible asset advantage to the customer. This strategy is further propagated through the lobbying of standards for consultants working in the industry. These standards could include minimum educational requirements in specific fields of study to limit the variety of professionals entering the field due to the extreme shortage. This does have the counter effect of increasing the bargaining power of suppliers. The concept of setting standards can be taken one-step further through quantitative performance monitoring. This allows a company to introduce benchmarking as a method to create differentiation from its competitors.

4.3.3 Control Software Suppliers

Another measure to mitigate the bargaining power of suppliers is to establish a workable relationship with software suppliers. As the requirements for emissions tracking software are very specialized to the industry, it places a high premium on any software that is available within the industry. If a company

is employing an information systems strategy when providing consulting solutions, it has the option to either develop the software in-house and leverage its existing domain expertise in emissions trading or it will have to outsource and ensure a maintainable contract with a software solution provider. In either case, the company ends up controlling the source of the software, which should reduce the bargaining power of software suppliers when it comes to providing an integrated information systems solution.

4.3.4 Service Differentiation

Since the industry is still in the growth stage of the industry life cycle, there are opportunities for an emissions trading consulting services company to establish differentiation in its service offerings. Differentiation can be achieved through quality of services provided, the quality of staff available to a firm, range of services provided and the industry sectors to which services are targeted. As the industry is still in its infancy a company can achieve differentiation through the effective use of a marketing strategy to educate customers about the .

4.3.5 Understanding of Government Policies

One important key to success in this industry is an understanding of government policies and behaviour. This is due to the pronounced effect that the Government has on the administration of the ETS. Changes in policy can dictate changes in the environment such as demand for services and compliance standards. As a result, it is imperative that a firm competing in the emissions trading consulting industry an Australia has a keen understanding of how

Government policy related to the ETS is formed and be able to predict how policies and the ETS environment can change.

4.4 Competitor Analysis

This section analyses HAC's major competitors in the emissions trading consulting services industry. HAC has many competitors, and all the competitors specified are direct competitors. The reason all these firms are considered direct competitors is because they form partnerships on a project-to-project basis to attempt to fill the gaps in the services that they provide. The competitors can be grouped into three main categories. Section 4.4.1 provides an overview of the direct competitor categories. This is followed by a summary of the major direct competitors and their capabilities in section 4.4.2. Section 4.4.3 provides an industry position map to identify opportunities within the market, which are then summarized in section 4.4.4.

4.4.1 Competitor Categories

4.4.1.1 Specialized Environmental Engineering and Consulting Firms

This group represents the main competition for HAC. These firms provide full-service emissions trading consulting services and are larger firms that also perform other environmental engineering projects. The firms in this group include Energetics Australia, Snowy Mountains Engineering Corporation, Earth Systems and Sinclair Knight Merz.

4.4.1.2 General Consulting and Project Management Firms

Large, well-known consulting firms make up this group of competitors. These firms do not possess core capabilities in engineering, but rather in economic modelling, project management and advisory services. They leverage their core capabilities to extend their consulting services to their climate change departments. The services provided by these firms are related to strategic carbon credit advice, modelling and projections. The major members in this group include PriceWaterhouseCooper Australia, ACIL Tasman, Australian Carbon Exchange (ACX) and Parsons Brinckerhoff.

4.4.1.3 Small Specialized Emissions Trading Consulting Firms

These firms have 100 people or less and specialize in emissions trading consulting services. Some provide full-service consulting; others provide services for specific areas in the industry. Competitors in this group include Carbon Consulting, Prima Consulting, Rare Consulting, Emission Statement, Offset-Go and Carbonetix.

4.4.2 Summary of Competitors Capabilities and Services

Table 3 provides a summary of the capabilities and services provided by HAC's various competitors. This information can then be used to form a position map of all the competitors in the emissions trading consulting services industry.

Company Name	Public or Private	Size	Core Capabilities	Services/Product
Energetics Australia (EA)	Private	Over 150	Sustainability, Emissions Auditing, Information Management and Integrated Business Solutions for Carbon Markets and Carbon Trading	Full-Service provider. Auditing, Tracking (Possesses own custom software solution), Carbon Supply Chain Consulting and Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Snowy Mountains Engineering Corporation (SMEC)	Private	Over 2000	multidisciplinary consulting services in engineering, project management, environmental science and development activities	Auditing, Carbon Supply Chain Consulting and Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Earth Systems (ES)	Private	Over 100	Consulting, project management and research and development capabilities in the environmental sector.	Auditing, Carbon Supply Chain Consulting and Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Sinclair Knight Merz (SKM)	Private	Over 6000	engineering, sciences and project delivery firm	Carbon Supply Chain Consulting and Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC)	Public	5000 (in Australia)	assurance, tax and advisory services	Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
ACIL Tasman (ACIL)	Private	N/A	economic, public policy and strategic advice	Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Australian Carbon Exchange (ACX)	Private	N/A	brokering services, carbon registry, carbon trading platform	Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services

Table 3 HAC Competitor Comparisons

Parsons BrinckerHoff (PB)	Private	Over 12000	environmental engineering and program and project management	Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Carbon Consulting (CC)	Private	Less than 10	carbon trading consulting	Emissions Auditing and Carbon Trading Advice
Emission Statement (ES)	Private	N/A	Emissions Trading Consulting	Auditing, Carbon Supply Chain Consulting and Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting Services
Prima Consulting (PC)	Private	Under 100	Information Management and Business Intelligence Solutions	Emissions Tracking Software
Rare Consulting (RC)	Private	Under 10	Transport and Environment Consulting	Carbon Supply Chain Consulting
Offset-Go (OG)	Private	N/A	Software Development	Emissions Auditing and Auditing and Tracking Software
Carbonetix (C)	Private	N/A	Engineering, Consulting and software development	Emissions Auditing and Auditing and Tracking Software

Note: N/A = Not Available

4.4.3 Industry Position Map

Figure 7 shows a position map for the industry and the competitors involved. Note competitor abbreviations are referenced in Table 3. The position map dimensions are the two possible methods of segmenting the market, and it shows that there is a lot of clustering around providing Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting (SCO2CC) for all industries in general. The reason for this is that this area of the industry involves the biggest overlap with other disciplines, such as economics modelling and strategic investment and advisory services. This intersected segment is the most competitive one in the industry. By examining which competitors appear in multiple positions in Figure 7, it is apparent is that of all the competitors, there is really only one true full-service provider for all industries, and that is Energetics Australia. Energetics Australia appears in all positions on the right hand side of Figure 7. This would make Energetics Australia one of the main competitors in the full-service emissions trading consulting segment. It also provides an opportunity to follow Energetics into that segment and attempt to gain market share by differentiating as a full-service provider. Other opportunities include producing a set of services that cater to individual industry sectors (left hand side of figure 7), as it is evident from the position map that this is a segment that not many competitors are targeting and serving the emissions tracking market, as that remains an underserved market as well.





Legend: CO2SCM - Carbon Supply Chain Consulting SCO2CC – Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting



4.4.4 Opportunities Identified

To summarize the competitor analysis, the position map identified three possible opportunities:

- There is an opportunity to be a full-service provider to the emissions trading consulting market in all industry sectors.
- There is an opportunity to market a suite of services that are targeted at individual industry sectors, for example, full-service emission trading consulting service specifically targeted to the mining industry.
- The emissions tracking market is underserved, especially in markets that target specific industries.

5: INTERNAL ANALYSIS

This internal analysis of HAC determines the core capabilities and resources that it possesses and determines how those fit the industry. This section first examines the management team, structure and resources that are at HAC's disposal. That is followed by a SWOT analysis to identify the strengths and weaknesses that HAC has which will dictate how it should handle the strategic issues it faces.

5.1 Resources

5.1.1 Financial Structure

HAC Consulting is a small start-up venture based out of Perth, WA, Australia. The company was founded less than a year ago and is privately funded. It is a proprietary limited company under Australian law. Its financial information for the current fiscal year is unknown, but is not required for the purposes of this analysis. HAC has limited financial resources at its disposal due to its current proprietary limited company status. The company also does not possess any significant fixed assets, as the overhead for performing consulting services is very low.

5.1.2 Labour Resources

HAC employs a team of more than 30 consultants from a wide variety of backgrounds such as environmental and mechanical engineering, sustainability,

business development, carbon trading consulting and public sector policy development, many of whom are considered experts in their fields (HAC Australia Pty Ltd, 2008). This number, however, is not a large number considering the size of the market and the number of contracts that will be going around as companies scramble to become ETS compliant. HAC might be limited in its capacity to handle multiple contracts simultaneously.

Many of the staff are not full-time employees of HAC, but freelance consultants that are selectively organised into project teams for major undertakings. Although this provides HAC with more flexibility when it comes organizing project teams, it also exposes them to the risk of losing consultants to poaching practices from competitors.

5.1.3 Intangible Resources

Some of the intangible resources or assets that HAC has at its disposal include the reputation of the co-founders for their involvement with the Perth Fuel Cell Bus Trials, aka the EcoBus program. "The EcoBus trial received a number of awards including the 2005 Banksia Award for Government Leading by Example, the 2004 Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport Outstanding Achievement Award and the 2004 Sustainable Transport Coalition Government of Western Australia, 2008). The EcoBus association also provides HAC with advanced knowledge about Sustainability practices in the transport industry sector.

5.2 Management Capabilities

The management team at HAC consist of the three co-founders, Colin Cockroft, Glen Head and Jamie Ally. All three have prior management experience from their involvement with Ballard Power Systems Inc. Each cofounder brings a unique set of skills and experience to the management team. Mr. Cockroft has a background in the defence industry engineering and management, Mr. Head has significant public policy experience and held senior roles in State Government, and Mr. Ally brings an engineering and project management background through his experience at Ballard Power Systems. Mr. Cockroft and Mr. Head provide HAC with extensive experience in Australian public and private sector issues.

5.3 Marketing and Sales Capabilities

HAC currently lacks a formal marketing and sales department. The management team is performing most sales duties, which includes procurement of contracts and submission of bids. They are also promoting the company through word-of-mouth, publishing white papers and attending conferences. They do not have a structured sales or marketing plan.

5.4 Organizational Structure

HAC consulting currently has no formal organizational structure. The company follows an ad-hoc structure that adjusts to deal with the current load of projects taken on by the company. Ad-Hoc teams are formed for the duration of

a project and then are reconfigured depending on the needs of the upcoming project. This allows the company to react quickly as it takes on more contracts.

5.5 SWOT Analysis

Table 4 shows the summary of the SWOT analysis for HAC Consulting. The strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats are then discussed in detail in this section. The basic SWOT analysis reveals that HAC does have the strengths to be able to compete in the emissions trading consulting services industry, but the high number of weaknesses and threats mean that they have to be conservative in their approach to this market.

Strengths	Weaknesses	
 Specialization in transport Industry HAC's reputation Existing relationships with other firms Understanding of the emissions trading industry and of government policy Qualified staff Low cost overhead Wide range of services already provided by HAC allow it to be a full-service provider 	 Limited financial resources Lack of marketing plan/staff Limited capacity will make it difficult to take on multiple contracts Default product offering uses a paper tracking system, which precludes it from use in larger corporations Use of freelance consultants 	
Opportunities	Threats	
 Develop specialized product for a specific industry sector Lack of performance metrics for services Develop emissions tracking services 	 Larger sized competitors have more capacity to take on multiple projects Some of the more lucrative segments of the market are very crowded Very high threat of entry into the 	

Table 4	SWOT Analysis
---------	---------------

•	Lack of awareness of ETS amongst Australian companies	
•	Only one true full-service provider	

Employee poaching and turnover

5.5.1 Threats

The threats facing HAC in the emission trading consulting services industry are related to the threats from the Six Forces Analysis performed earlier in section 5.2. The larger consulting firms have greater capacity to handle multiple contracts simultaneously than HAC, which will allow them to win more contracts in general. This, coupled with the fact that the more lucrative segments of the industry (such as Strategic Carbon Credit Consulting) are crowded with some of the largest competitors, poses a significant threat to HAC. The threat of new entrants is very high, as is the threat from suppliers, which means HAC must deal with the possibility of losing employees through poaching or turnover.

5.5.2 Opportunities

The opportunities here are a combination of the conclusions from the Industry Key Success Factors in section 5.3 and Competitor Analysis in section 5.4. HAC currently has numerous strategic opportunities available. It can develop a suite of services targeted to a specific industrial sector, such as the transportation industry, which is an opportunity identified by the industry position map in the competitor analysis. The industry position map also identified a couple of other opportunities, namely the underserved emissions tracking services market and the fact that there is only one true full-service provider in the Australian market. Another opportunity that exists in the market is the general lack of knowledge amongst Australian companies about the ETS. As stated earlier, only 36 percent of business executives were aware of the ETS beginning in 2010 and eighty percent of executives have little knowledge or were only "somewhat aware" of it (ABC News Online, 2008). This lack of knowledge means that a company that can market proactive preparation for ETS compliance and create more awareness about the ETS can potentially build brand recognition within the market.

With the industry in the growth stage, there is also currently a lack of performance metrics for benchmarking a company's emissions trading services. Thus, an opportunity exists to develop and market a set of performance metrics that enable a company to establish a brand and differentiate itself from the rest of the competitors in the market. This differentiation strategy will also reduce the threats from supplier

5.5.3 Strengths

HAC has some notable strategic strengths in its favour. The experience of the co-founders with the Eco Bus program gives them a two-pronged advantage. It gives them a successful reputation as well as giving them expertise in providing sustainability solutions for a specific industry sector, that is, transportation. This allows them to take advantage of the opportunity to develop a suite of services that tailored to the transportation industry. In the same vein, HAC has existing relationships with another firm in the industry, RareConsulting. RareConsulting is also has a core competency in the Transportation industry which presents a real

opportunity to take advantage of this strength. These combined with their understanding of government policy and their understanding of the emissions trading industry leaves them in a good position to take advantage of numerous opportunities. HAC also has excellent qualified staff, and with the varied backgrounds of their experts, they have the ability to provide the full range of services to be a full-service emissions trading consulting services provider. Being a smaller company, they have a low cost overhead, which should be strength when it comes to moving from project to project. This, coupled with their existing portfolio of services allows them to be a full-service provider within the market.

5.5.4 Weaknesses

One of HAC's greatest weaknesses is their lack of resources, both labour and financial, especially at this time when demand in the emissions trading consulting industry is about to explode. This lack of capacity will adversely affect their ability to take advantage of an opportunity to win a number of contracts. HAC's lack of marketing personnel or a marketing plan is adversely affecting its ability to differentiate its service offerings in this industry. As a majority of HAC's staff are freelance consultants and not full-time employees, HAC is more vulnerable to labour related forces in the industry. They will be more susceptible to turnover and employee poaching, specifically in between projects. Finally, HAC's lack of an information system option in its default full-service offering will turn away the bigger clients who will be more interested in an integrated information system solution.

6: STRATEGIC OPTION ANALYSIS

The SWOT Analysis performed in section 5.5 provides a general framework for generating strategies as it takes into account both internal (strengths and weaknesses) and external (opportunities and threats) factors facing a firm. Table 5 shows how the SWOT Analysis Framework identifies four types of broad strategies. These are offensive, defensive, adjustment and survival strategies.

Offensive strategies are aggressive strategies that enable a firm to take advantage of opportunities utilizing its strengths. These are also known as Strength-Opportunity Strategies (SO). Companies with clear, sustainable competitive advantages use offensive strategies to maintain aggressive positioning in their market.

Defensive strategies (Weakness-Opportunity, or WO), on the other hand, allow a firm to take advantage of opportunities to overcome its weaknesses. An adjustment strategy (Strength-Threat, or ST) is one where a company uses its strengths to abate a threat. Finally, Survival strategies (Weakness-Threat, or WT) involve a firm minimizing its weaknesses to avoid threats.

Table 5 Strategies identified by SWOT Analysis

	Strengths	Weaknesses
Opportunities • Develop specialized product for a specific industry sector • Lack of performance metrics for services • Develop emissions tracking services • Develop emissions tracking services • Lack of awareness of ETS amongst Australian companies	 Specialization in transport Industry HAC's reputation Existing relationships with other firms Understanding of the emissions trading industry and of government policy Qualified staff Low cost overhead Wide range of services already provided by HAC allow it to be a full-service provider Offensive (SO) Develop a specialized product for the transportation industry Develop performance metrics for benchmarking services 	 Limited financial resources Lack of marketing plan/staff Limited capacity will make it difficult to take on multiple contracts Default product offering uses a paper tracking system, which precludes it from use in larger corporations Use of freelance consultants Defensive (WO) Integrate an information system based emissions tracking service into existing product line Take advantage of the lack of information in the market to develop brand and company recognition
provider		
Threats	Adjustment (ST)	Survival (WT)
 Larger sized competitors have more capacity to take on multiple projects 	 Market reputation and expertise in the industry 	 Avoid competing against the larger competitors by taking on smaller contracts from
 Some of the more lucrative segments of the market are very crowded 		 Establish a proactive employee/consultant retention system
 Very high threat of entry into the industry 		зузісті
Employee poaching and turnover		

Based on the description of the strategies outlined above and the SWOT analysis from section 5.5, HAC Consulting has the following broad strategies to consider moving forward.

6.1 Offensive Strategy: Develop a Specialized Service Product for the Transportation Industry

An offensive strategy for HAC is to develop a suite of services for emissions trading consulting that focuses on the transportation industry. This option enables HAC to utilize its experience in the transportation sector and leverages its existing relationship with RareConsulting, another emissions trading consulting firm that has expertise in the transportation industry to take advantage of the opportunity to develop a product that caters to a specific industry sector. The competitive analysis in section 5.4 identified the opportunity that few companies are providing emissions trading consulting services targeted to specific industries. The customers of the targeted industry benefit with solutions that are more suited to their situations.

The disadvantages of this solution are the resources required to modify their existing suite of services into a template to fit the transportation industry. Diverting resources into developing the new services will also reduce the number of contracts HAC can accept for their main product. HAC would have to sacrifice one product line for the other, and this would be detrimental as the specific services line represents a smaller market segment.

6.2 Offensive Strategy: Develop Performance Metrics for Benchmarking Services

Another aggressive strategic option for HAC to pursue is to develop a set of performance metrics. These metrics can be used in conjunction with a marketing plan to benchmark HAC services against its competitors. This strategy leverages HAC's expertise in the area of emissions trading industry to take advantage of the opportunity that there are currently no metrics to differentiate services provided by different providers in the market. This will provide HAC with the differentiation it requires to gain an advantage in the market. This will increase recognition of HAC in the industry, especially if the benchmarks can be used to establish a standard for benchmarking.

There are many pitfalls to pursuing this option immediately. First, it requires an investment of resources into researching metrics and modifying processes to accommodate data collection. These resources include labour, financial and technology for data collection and mining. Secondly, HAC currently lacks the marketing infrastructure required to communicate the performance metrics to the market. Finally, there is a significant sunk cost risk involved if the metrics do not become the de-facto standard.

6.3 Defensive Strategy: Take Advantage of the Lack of Information in the Market to Develop Brand and Company Recognition

This strategic option is a more conservative strategy for HAC Consulting. It involves HAC overcoming its weakness in not having a structured marketing plan, staff or infrastructure to take advantage of the opportunity that is provided by the lack of information about the Australian ETS amongst Australian companies. It is a cost effective path of action with the benefit that it invests in HAC's assets that will allow it to pursue different strategic options in the future. HAC will also strengthen its brand image by convincing companies to proactively pursue ETS compliance as a path to improve their ROI. The disadvantages to this strategy are it requires HAC to invest in full- or part-time marketing staff and risk not being able to spread its message effectively because its limited resources limit HAC's access to most marketing channels.

6.4 Defensive Strategy: Integrate an Information System Based Emissions Tracking Service into Existing Product Line

A secondary defensive strategy that HAC could pursue is to limit its weakness in its current emissions tracking system, which is a paper-based system and integrate an existing information system based tracking system. This will enable HAC to brand a solution that it could use to take advantage of the opportunity in the emissions tracking services segment of the market. Currently, the emissions tracking system segment is under-served, and HAC could outsource an existing solution and rebrand it under its emissions trading services brand to offer a product to this segment. An alternative to rebranding is for HAC to form a partnership with the software provider to simply provide a channel through which the software provider can place their software solution. This second possible implementation is a preferred solution as it would augment HAC's existing full-service product line, but then it would not allow it to directly take advantage of the opportunity in the emissions tracking system market.

This strategic option, however, is fraught with risks. HAC would have to find a suitable software provider with which to collaborate to provide a product. In addition, in order to provide a rebranded solution, HAC would have to devote resources (financial, labour) to collaborate with the software provider in order to alter the solution to suit HAC's needs that would divert resources from its main full-service product offering.

6.5 Adaptive Strategy: Market Reputation and Expertise in the Industry

An adaptive strategy for HAC consulting to pursue would be to develop a marketing plan to market the qualifications and quality of HAC consultants and HAC's reputation. This avenue uses HAC's strength in the qualification of its staff to avoid the threat posed by entrants. The benefit of this option would be to differentiate HAC's existing services from the competitors by communicating the superior quality of its staff to the customer. This marketing message would allow HAC to increase its recognition within the industry as well. The con of this option is that HAC currently lacks the marketing infrastructure required to communicate this message to its customers.

6.6 Survival Strategy: Avoid Competing against the Larger Competitors by Taking on Smaller Contracts from Smaller Companies

HAC Consulting's weakness of limited resources and capacity can be overcome by avoiding the threat of competing against large competitors who have more capacity to take on more projects. This strategy is suitable for a short-term growth scenario as it limits HAC to bidding for smaller contracts. However, this strategy fits an industry that has very high threat from competition and is in the maturity or decline phases. Since the emissions trading consulting services industry is in the growth stages of the life cycle, HAC does not have to resort to this survival strategy in order to stay competitive.

6.7 Survival Strategy: Establish a Proactive Employee/Consultant Retention System

The final strategic option available to HAC Consulting is that of establishing a proactive employee/consultant retention system to overcome its weakness of having a majority of its staff as freelance consultants. Although its staff is skilled, and having them as freelance consultants provides HAC the flexibility to form ad-hoc project teams of varying structures quickly and efficiently, it exposes HAC to the high threat posed by suppliers of labour resources in the industry, as a consultant critical for a project may not be available when the project needs to be executed. HAC has to plan to increase its permanent employee staff as it experiences growth and establish contracts and agreements that prevent those employees from being poached by competitors. In addition, HAC needs to plan its project execution in timelines that promote the freelance consultants being under contract with HAC in contiguous stretches to avoid losing them to other projects.

7: RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 Recommendation: A Mixed Defensive/Adaptive Strategy

The recommended strategic course of action for HAC Consulting is to employ the defensive strategy of developing brand and company recognition by taking advantage of the opportunity created by the lack of information about the Australian ETS in the market. HAC Consulting does not currently have a clear, sustainable competitive advantage over its competitors, which should preclude it from adopting either of the offensive strategies identified in section 6. A defensive strategy such as this provides HAC with a more conservative strategy that allows it to cover one of its major weaknesses of not having a clear marketing infrastructure. This strategic option also provides an investment into HAC's strength by allowing it to concurrently pursue the identified adaptive strategy, that is, fortifying its reputation. This will allow HAC to pursue more offensive strategies such as the one described in section 6.2. There is the risk of the initial investment, but it is an investment into a marketing infrastructure asset. Section 7.2 proposes an implementation for the mixed strategy.

7.2 Suggested Implementation

The implementation for the defensive strategy recommended begins with the hiring of marketing staff at HAC Consulting. The focus of the marketing department will be to develop an aggressive Internet marketing strategy coupled with a strategy to improve the visibility of HAC Consulting through attendance at

major industry events. This means that the marketing staff hired at HAC Consulting will have to be experienced in Internet marketing techniques and web technologies. The marketing staff will also have to have a certain level of domain knowledge in the context of emission trading systems in order to be aware of the important conferences and industry events relevant to HAC Consulting, as well as strong Australian contacts from previous work experiences in key industry sectors.

Creating awareness amongst client companies for the need to employ emissions trading consulting services in preparation for the upcoming ETS is the primary focus of the Internet marketing strategy. The message to clients will be that they need to be proactive in getting on the road to compliance. As there is a visible lack of knowledge in the market place for the need for these services, many companies will appreciate being made aware about these needs and this will translate into recognition of the company's knowledge about Australia's ETS. A secondary focus of the Internet marketing campaign will be to advertise the quality and expertise of the HAC Consulting staff and the existing reputation of HAC based on its prior experience with the EcoBus program (Department of Planning and Infrastructure, Government of Western Australia, 2008).

An efficient channel for HAC Consulting to get this message out to prospective clients is to create a public blog about ETS related topics. In addition, this blog will be used by senior management at HAC Consulting to post their expert opinions on interpreting issues regarding the ETS as the Government of Australia continues to fine tune the scheme. The blog will serve as an informal
channel for prospective clients to get to know ETS subject matter experts at HAC Consulting and gauge their level of expertise. The marketing staff at HAC Consulting will moderate the blog and contribute to it as well.

The blog is in addition to the existing HAC Consulting web site, which will be the main information portal for HAC Consulting on the web, including links to white papers and company information. To complete the Internet marketing blitz, HAC Consulting will also create an official company Wiki. The HAC Consulting Wiki will serve as a manual for prospective clients on preparatory processes that they can perform internally on their infrastructures to be able to receive emissions trading consulting services. This Wiki needs to be carefully monitored, as HAC Consulting should not disclose any information that provides their emissions trading services with a competitive advantage. The Wiki can optionally be implemented in a phased process.

The main goal of the Internet marketing campaign will be to improve the quality and volume of traffic to the HAC Consulting web site, blog and wiki and increase the search rank of these three sites in the context of searches performed for the Australian ETS. An example of a desired search result would be to have HAC Consulting's sites listed in the top 10 whenever the phrase "Australian ETS Compliance" is searched. The primary method of achieving this desired result would be to use standard Search Engine Optimization (SEO) techniques. The marketing staff at HAC will use tools such as Google Adwords to advertise HAC Consulting's service offerings using a pay-per-click advertising

60

model. The effectiveness of the Internet marketing campaign will be measured using standard tools such as Google Analytics.

The critical success factor for this proposed implementation is the quality of the web content and a slight first mover advantage. If HAC can achieve a critical mass of quality information in its different Internet channels and perform updates with regular frequency, then it can achieve differentiation from its competitors that would enhance the power of its brand in the industry.

7.3 Advantage and Disadvantages of Suggested Implementation

The biggest advantage of the proposed implementation is cost effectiveness. It utilizes low cost channels such as the Internet to communicate HAC Consulting's marketing messages. The added benefit of using the Internet as a medium is the ability to efficiently monitor the results of the marketing campaign, which allows for the creation of a feedback loop to enable the modification and adjustment of the marketing campaign.

The proposed implementation of the strategy fortifies HAC Consulting's Internet presence by establishing a structure with separate channels for different kinds of information. It enables HAC to connect with current and potential customers through both a subscription and non-subscription based infrastructures. The web site is non-subscription based whereas the wiki and blog support subscription-based channels that will allow HAC clients to receive updates from HAC as soon as they are published in either medium. This kind of

61

communication develops HAC's brand recognition, which will help it pursue strategies that are more aggressive in the future.

However, there are some disadvantages and risks involved in the proposed implementation. First, it requires HAC to invest in full- or part-time marketing staff that have prior experience with current web marketing techniques, which would represent an initial cost investment. Secondly, Internet marketing is not guaranteed to work, and increasing its effectiveness may become a case of hitting a moving target. Finally, this strategic implementation is proposing a generic solution, one that is reproducible by any of HAC's competitors since it utilizes commoditized tools and channels.

8: CONCLUSION

In conclusion, HAC Consulting Pty Ltd has an excellent opportunity to be successful in the current environment. With the Australian ETS looming, there is expected to be a flood of activity concerning compliance needs, and the underdeveloped state of knowledge about the ETS and advertising for Emissions Trading Consulting Services provides HAC Consulting a window of opportunity to establish itself as a recognized company and brand within the marketplace. This recognition should allow HAC Consulting to pursue a long-term growth strategy.

9: APPENDICES

9.1 Appendix 1: Consulting Services provided by HAC

HAC Australia provides consulting services to both corporate and government clients in the following areas:

- Transport Policy
- Energy Policy
- Urban Planning
- Sustainability Strategy
- Risk Management: Climate Change and
- Energy Security (Peak Oil)
- Emissions Audits
- Energy Audits
- Greenhouse Abatement Analysis
- Marginal Abatement Cost Curves
- Emissions-Trading Preparation
- Greenhouse Challenge Plus (GCP)
- Energy Efficiency Opportunities (EEO) Act
- National Greenhouse and Energy

- Reporting (NGER) Act
- Australian National Greenhouse Gas
- Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS)
- National Pollutant Inventory (NPI)
- Carbon Neutrality
- Triple Bottom Line (TBL) Toolkit
- Corporate Strategic Planning
- Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
- General and Applied Research
- Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)
- Vehicle Technology & Fuel Assessment
- Project Implementation & Management
- Traditional Engineering Services

9.2 Appendix 2: Counts of Australian Businesses, 2006-2007

9.2.1 Breakdown by Industry

Industrial Sector	Number of Businesses
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing	214,795
Mining	7,205
Manufacturing	106,565
Electricity, Gas and Water Supply	1,968
Construction	322,404
Wholesale Trade	85,398
Retail Trade	219,308
Accommodation, Cafes and Restaurants	56,678
Transport and Storage	117,323
Communication Services	23,998
Finance and Insurance	136,587
Property and Business Services	507,508
Education	16,265
Health and Community Services	92,318
Cultural Recreational Services	46,808
Personal and Other Services	56,642
Total	2,011,770

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2007)

9.2.2 Breakdown by Income

Annual Income	Number of Businesses
0 to less than \$50K	501,467
\$50K to less than \$200K	742,288
\$200K to less than \$2m	646,458
\$2m or more	121,557
Total	2,011,770

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2007)

9.2.3 Breakdown	by Business Size
-----------------	------------------

Business Size	Number of Businesses
Non-Employing	1,171,832
Employing	
- 1 to 4 people	527,445
- 5 to 19 people	228,313
- 20 to 199 people	78,304
- 200+ people	5,876
Total	2,011,770

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2007)

10: BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ABC News Online. (2008, January 7). *Business unprepared for emission trading scheme survey*. Retrieved June 20, 2008, from Australia Business/Finance News: http://www.aussieindolanka.com/news/?newsid=57461
- announcement, E. (2007, March 19). Perth should aim to be carbon trading centre: WA liberals. [Electronic version]. *Daily Business Alerts (Australia),*
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2007). *Counts of Australian Businesses, Including Entries and Exits.* Cranberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

Australian Government, Department of Climate Change. (2008, April 03). *About the ETS.* Retrieved June 14, 2008, from Australian Government, Department of Climate Change: http://www.greenhouse.gov.au/emissionstrading/about.html

- Australian Government, Department of Climate Change. (2008, April 03). *Emissions Trading Scheme - Timetable*. Retrieved June 14, 2008, from Australian Government - Department of Climate Change: http://www.greenhouse.gov.au/emissionstrading/timetable.html
- Australian Government, Department of Climate Change. (2007, September). Overview of NGER Act 2007. Australia.
- Australian climate exchange.(2008). *BRW*, *30*(15), 35-35. Retrieved from http://proxy.lib.sfu.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& db=bth&AN=31941843&site=bsi-live
- Baker, R., & Unit, A. I. (2007, February 19). Politics, not policy, behind PM's shift;
 ENVIRONMENT documents detail changed stance on carbon trading the politics of climate. [Electronic version]. *The Age (Melbourne, Australia),* pp. 4.

Calculating carbon trading's costs. (cover story).(2008). *Traffic World*, 272(20), 12-12. Retrieved from

http://proxy.lib.sfu.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& db=bth&AN=32431922&site=bsi-live

- Canada NewsWire. (2004, September 10). Minister Dion Challenges Canada to Lead the New Industrial Revolution. Calgary, AB, Canada.
- Climate Managers Pty Ltd. (2007). Industry update: The Australian ETS. Melbourne: Climate Managers Pty Ltd.
- Department of Planning and Infrastructure, Government of Western Australia. (2008, June 20). *EcoBus.* Retrieved June 28, 2008, from Department of Planning and Infrastructure: http://www.dpi.wa.gov.au/greentransport/19524.asp
- European Union. (2004). DIRECTIVE 2004/101/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL. Official Journal of the European Union , 1-6.
- Financial Times. (2007, April 26). *In depth Emissions Trading History of an Idea*. Retrieved June 10, 2008, from FinancialTimes.com: http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/ec4e7676-f415-11db-88aa-000b5df10621,dwp_uuid=3c093daa-edc1-11db-8584-000b5df10621.html
- Frew, W., & COLEBATCH, W. T. (2006, December 12). Greenhouse crunch for big business; report predicts winners and losers. [Electronic version]. *The Age (Melbourne, Australia),* pp. 5.

From kyoto to bali. (2007, August 6). [Electronic version]. The Australian (Australia), pp. 17.

- Garnaut, R. (2008, March 25). No free permits for polluters. [Electronic version]. *The Australian Financial Review*, pp. 71.
- Garnaut Climate Change Review. (2008). *EMISSIONS TRADING SCHEME DISCUSSION PAPER: Executive Summary.* Garnaut Climate Change Review.

- Garnaut Climate Change Review. (2008, June 12). *Garnaut Review Web Site: About.* Retrieved June 14, 2008, from Garnaut Climate Change Review: http://www.garnautreview.org.au/CA25734E0016A131/pages/about
- HAC Australia Pty Ltd. (2008). *About Us.* Retrieved June 10, 2008, from HAC Consulting : http://www.hacaustralia.com/about.html
- HAC Australia. (2008, April 18). The need to develop innovative policy mechanisms in parallel. Perth, WA, Australia.
- Hari, P. (2008, May 01). Auditing Emissions. Retrieved June 24, 2008, from BusinessWorld.com: http://www.businessworld.in/content/view/4549/4655
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (n.d.). *About IPCC*. Retrieved June 28, 2008, from Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: http://www.ipcc.ch/about/index.htm
- Kelly, P., & at-Large, E. (2007, June 27). Europe's climate lead the logical solution. [Electronic version]. *The Australian (Australia),* pp. 12.
- Marris, S., & Lewis, S. (2007, July 17). Labor calls on farmers to be carbon creditable. [Electronic version]. *The Australian (Australia),* pp. 2.
- Martin, P. (2008, June 6). Aust may 'overshoot' on kyoto. [Electronic version]. *Canberra Times (Australia),* pp. 1.
- Merlo, C. (2008, February 12). Taking credit. [Electronic version]. AgWeb.Com,
- Moore, G. A. (2002). Crossing the Chasm: Marketing and Selling Disruptive Products to Mainstream Customers. New York: Harper Collins.
- Moore, M. (2008). Cash from carbon. *Farm Industry News, 41*(6), 1-1. Retrieved from http://proxy.lib.sfu.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& db=bth&AN=32019272&site=bsi-live

Murphy, M., & Guardian, E. R. w. (2008, February 11). Australia warned on emissions scheme; THE ENERGY CHALLENGE. [Electronic version]. *The Age (Melbourne, Australia),* pp. 2.

New ideas from old europe; green.view.(2007, January 22). [Electronic version]. Economist.Com,

- Peake, R., & Writer, N. A. (2006, November 13). Carbon scheme 'likely'; we must be in: Costello. [Electronic version]. *Canberra Times (Australia),* pp. 1.
- Pearse, R. (2007, May 11). Five-pronged approach to climate change challenge. [Electronic version]. *The Age (Melbourne, Australia),* pp. 10.

Pooley, E. (2008). The first big test. (cover story). *Time South Pacific (Australia/New Zealand Edition)*, (16), 48-49. Retrieved from http://proxy.lib.sfu.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& db=bth&AN=31810532&site=bsi-live

Porter, M. (1979). How Competitive Forces Shape Strategy. Harvard Business Review.

- Ruse, B. (2007, March 27). Businesses lean to green plan. [Electronic version]. *The West Australian (Perth),* pp. 4.
- Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K., et al. (2007). *IPCC, 2007:* Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis.
 Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the
 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New
 York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Spongenberg, H. (2006, May 15). EU states gave too many pollution permits, say environment groups. [Electronic version]. *EUObserver.Com*,
- Spongenberg, H. (2006, May 4). EU tries to stop C02 credits market crash. [Electronic version]. *EUObserver.Com*,

- Sustainability: Where do we stand?(2008). *Accountancy*, *141*(1376), 112-112. Retrieved from http://proxy.lib.sfu.ca/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true& db=bth&AN=31787796&site=bsi-live
- The Canberra Times. (2006, November 16). Carbon trading : A cure or a delaying tactic? [Electronic version]. *Canberra Times (Australia),* pp. 21.
- The Canberra Times. (2007, February 9). Time to act on climate change. [Electronic version]. *Canberra Times (Australia),* pp. 12.
- The Canberra Times. (2008, March 20). Carbon trade to reap billions. [Electronic version]. *Canberra Times (Australia)*, pp. 2.
- Thumbs up to carbon trading.(2003, April 15). [Electronic version]. *The Daily Telegraph (Sydney, Australia),* pp. 27.
- Trounson, A. (2007, March 21). Exxon advocates tax over carbon trading. [Electronic version]. *The Australian (Australia),* pp. 23.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. (2008, June 21). *Kyoto Protocol*. Retrieved June 23, 2008, from United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/items/2830.php
- Wilson, N., & Maiden, S. (2007, February 5). Carbon tax to hit miners. [Electronic version]. *The Australian (Australia),* pp. 1.

Wilson, N., & writer, E. (2007, September 1). Low- emission technology strategy 'urgent'.[Electronic version]. Weekend Australian, pp. 34.

Warren, M. (2007, May 5). Experts evaporate in shifting field - CLIMATE CHALLENGE. Weekend Australian, p. 4.